The history of 
St Catherine’s Light House
Fowey
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Lfl WR 5sec 28 metres 11 / 9 miles
Location 50°19'37.92"N, 4°38'49.44"W
One of the few non-lighthouse authority light houses situated outside a harbour in existence and one with connections to famous people involved in lighthouse construction and operation.
It is not mentioned in the list of Cornish light houses but it has served mariners approaching Fowey, into St Austell Bay and navigating along the south Cornish coast since 1904.
In medieval times the chapel of St Catherine licensed in 1390 stood on the cliff top and a light was kept burning as a Lighthouse. This was slightly to the east of the location of the modern light house and near the location of the Rashleigh mausoleum. 
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By the late 1880’s residents and seafarers of Fowey together with the Harbour Commissioners were becoming concerned about the provision of a better navigational light for vessels approaching Fowey. Trinity house had been approached but they were not forthcoming instead built the daymark on Gribbin Head. The Fowey harbour light situated near Whitehouse was not very clear at sea and could not be seen to the East.


The harbour commissioners had by 1900 become concerned that the harbour light at Whitehouse was visible enough from seaward and particularly poor for ships approaching from the east. They discussed possible relocation on a number of occasions. They wrote to Trinity House in July 1890 to ask the Elder Brethren to erect a light at St. Catherine’s point. The request was turned down.
In August 1902 the Harbour Commissioners wrote to Trinity House proposing that the Harbour light at Whitehouse be moved at St. Catherine’s Point. They also had an exchange of correspondence with Chance Bros Ltd, lighthouse builders and Mr A.E.Cooke the land agent for the Rashleigh estate regarding a possible site for a light. Plans and specifications including costings were to be prepared Mr A. Isbell of Fowey. Trinity House replied and agreed that a representative would come to Fowey to discuss the location of the light.
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Below the fist design drawings by Mr W.T.Douglass
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Kresen Kernow is the custodian: reference :   Kresen Kernow - FYHC/B/4/118
 

In the September of 1902 and the clerk to the commissioners met Mr Cooper of the Rashleigh Estate at St Catherine’s point. He indicated they were prepared to lease ground known as Portable patch at £1 per annum.
The following month Trinity house indicated they would send a representative re harbour light location and Mr Reading from Trinity House, Penzance depot attended on 18th November. He agreed the site would be ideal and Mr W.T.Douglass, Consultant engineer, of 15 Victoria St., Westminster, London was recommended, and it was agreed that he would draw up plans and specifications meeting Trinity House requirements. His plans were considered at a Harbour Commissioners board meet on 11th December and approved subject to a water supply. In the event a smaller structure was agreed partly due to getting materials to the proposed site.
Note~;- William Tregarthen Douglass (23rd March 1857 - 10 August 1913) was born at Solva, Pembrokeshire, being the son of the late Sir James Nicholas Douglass, who was for many years Engineer-in-Chief to the Trinity House. His uncle William and his grandfather Nicholas were also famous in lighthouse construction. From June 1878 to August 1882, he was resident engineer at the erection of the new Eddystone Lighthouse and had sole charge of the works in connection with the removal of Smeaton's tower. From 1882 to 1887 he was resident engineer in sole charge of the difficult work of strengthening and improving the Bishop Rock lighthouse, Scilly Isles, and he erected a lighthouse on Round Island, in the same locality. William Tregarthen Douglass's death took place by drowning on 10th August 1913, at the age of fifty-six.
Extract from the http://www.douglashistory.co.uk/history/william_douglass.htm
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Mr Douglass  arrived in Fowey on 18th November 1902 .His fee was to be 5% of the total costs and travelling expenses. The plans arrived 2 weeks later and were forwarded to Mr Rashleigh seeking permission for water supply from Coombe farm and stone from his quarry. It would require 3/4 mile of pipe from spring at the farm that had not known to fail. It was agreed to supply Stone on site for £600. Mr George Luxon of Tywardreath was engaged to draw up details for the required buildings. However, Mr Rashleigh didn’t agree to the lease for water from Coombe and Mr Douglas stated that salt water could be used but it would need to be pumped to the top of the cliff. Always hopeful the Commissioner decided to ask Trinity House to build light at St. Catherine’s point but were unsuccessful. 
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Map showing area of land leased from the Rashleigh Estate.
The red line showed the position of white painted iron fencing.
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The part of the original plan built.
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In May 1903 tenders for new lighthouse were received for the masonry. Mr J.P.Isbell of Fowey at £595 and Messrs Pethick Bros of Plymouth at £999.Mr Isbell was accepted. Chance Bros a major lighthouse engineering company of Spon Lane, Smethick, Staffordshire  quoted £830. Mr Douglas advised the commissioners that gas lighting was more efficient than acetylene and Fowey Gas Co quoted £120 to supplying gas and laying gas pipe. In September 1903 the St Catherine’s light House build was given the go ahead by the Commissioners with Chance Bros to build and Fowey gas Co providing gas and Mrs Stopford Sackville having given permission for it to go through the grounds of Point Neptune.
The contract with Chance Bros received in June 1904 and dated 12th May 1904 and work commenced in August that year. The Board agreed to write to trinity house to remove Whitehouse light to St Catherine’s. In September there was a complaint of bad workmanship and Mr Douglass was informed.

The construction proposed was for a 4th order, fixed and condensing Dioptric (the refraction of light) apparatus with 3 gas burners, occulting apparatus in duplicate and a stand- by oil lamp with hand occulting mechanism. 
The lantern (lighthouse) was to have an internal diameter of 6ft 6.75 inches constructed in steel in a helical frame with steel roof with a copper ball ventilator. The steel plates were riveted in situe having first been assembled in the company’s workshop.
The copper ball ventilator was there to allow gases and fumes to escape the lantern and the wind vane originally installed rotated the ventilator using a series of drive cogs inside the structure. There was a pointer inside indication in which direction the wind vane was pointing. 
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The windvane as installed it’s not known when it came or was taken off.
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        The copper ball ventilator            inside the indicator showing where the wind vane was pointing.
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The gear wheels moving the ventilator.

Occulting light

An occulting light is a rhythmic light in which the duration of light in each period is longer than the total duration of darkness.
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Mr W.T.Douglass was engaged to supervise the work. A meeting was held between the clerk to the Commissioners and Mr Cooper of the Rashleigh Estate, and it was agreed that the headland known as Portable patch to be leased at £1 pa.
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On the 8th December 1904 Mr Gedge, who was Mr Douglass’s assistant, inspected light and issued a certificate of completion. Early in the January 1905 the Board at gathered at St Catherine’s to inspect and have the operation explained by Mr Douglas following this they went to sea in the tug Gallant with Pilots Moses Dunn and John Salt. As all was declared satisfactory St Catherine’s light shone for 1st time on 7th January 1905. 
Shipping harbour dues were increased by one farthing to cover cost and Capt. W.E. Beale became the first lighthouse keeper promoted from lamp lighter in November that year @21/- per week. The pilots and coastguards were offered 5/- if they reported problems with lights..
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Picture taken at the lighthouse inspection. Presumably Mr Douglass or Mr Gedge and the builder
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Notice issued by the Commissioners regarding the new light.
Kresen Kernow is the custodian reference Kresen Kernow - FYHC/B/5/162
It’s not clear what colour the light house started as but in May 1907 it was painted red and that same month Mr Rashleigh complained that the gas pipe to St. Catherine’s was in wrong position and the Commissioners agreed to relay it between Tower Park and Readymoney
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An early picture showing the store and top of light house with original fencing. This area is now overgrown and the fencing, what’s left of it is not visible. The building is now concrete block with a flat concrete roof built during the WWII
The Chart 31 published in 1914 showed St Catherine’s as Lt Fl every 5 secs visible for 15 miles. There was a Red sector over Cannis to shore white around to outside Washing Rocks on the Polruan shore.
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    Units of the old gas a gas regulator/flasher for lighting controllers.
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Description automatically generated with low confidence]The 2 L 3 D most likely refers to the light character, i.e. 2 seconds light, 3 seconds dark;
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Inside the regulators a diaphragm with spring control mechanism.
The Svenska Aktiebolaget Gasaccumulator (AGA) Flasher is world famous for its reliability and economy of operation. It was invented in 1904 by Dr. Gustaf Dalen and has remained basically unchanged to the present. In 1912 he was awarded the Nobel Prize in Physics for his "invention of automatic regulators for use in conjunction with gas accumulators for illuminating lighthouses and buoys ". 
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Description automatically generated with medium confidence]Before Dalen’s the light would rotate being blanketed off for the desire period but his system turned the entire lighthouse on and off. Therefore, the fuel consumption was much lower, since everyone saw the flash of the headlight at the same time, and stopped seeing it when the light went out. Also, the much shorter duration of the flashes made it possible to identify a beacon much faster, without having to wait four or ten seconds to see how long it would take for the light to appear again.
Finally – and it is not a negligible advantage – there were no gears or rotation mechanisms. The little valve reed was a hell of a lot cheaper, a lot more reliable, and took a lot longer to fail in operation. And if it did break, it was much cheaper and simpler to replace the whole thing, rather than send a technician to repair the complicated turning mechanisms of an old headlight. The 'Dalén Flasher' reduced gas consumption by more than 90%. The AGA lighthouse equipment worked without any type of electric supply and was thus extremely reliable.


The flashers are used on harbour lights, buoys, and shore beacons. The flasher consists of two compartments, one above the other, on top of which is a stand for the burner. The lower unit is a pressure regulator which reduces the high and varying pressure of the gas supply to a lower, constant value by means of a spring-loaded diaphragm governing an outlet valve. The upper compartment houses the flasher mechanism in which a valve actuated by a diaphragm forces the gas to flow intermittently to the burner, where it is ignited by a pilot flame.
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In May1908 Dr Rashleigh requested the gas pipe line be relaid between Tower Park and Readymoney.
Discussion regarding changing to electrical power first took place in January 1920 when Chance Bros wanted to know if electricity was available at St Catherine’s. They could provide Acetylene gas which was more efficient but due to the lighthouses location it was felt that it was too difficult to get the heavy cylinders to the site and it was declined. The light house continued to operate using gas. In 1937 it was agreed that electricity was cheaper but there was a difficulty in getting it to the light house site so did not happen until after the war. 
In September 1934 Trinity House refused again to contribute to cost of St Catherine’s and Whitehouse lights. There must have been a foghorn operated by gas as discussions took place in June 1937 as to how long the gasometer horn would last. In December 1939 considerations took place as to the type of lighting to be used at St Catherine’s.
During the war the lighthouse was camouflaged. On the war time chart the light was shown fl. White and red 5 sec visible for 15 miles elevation 91 ft.
In May 1945 St Catherine’s light was reported in action again so it had presumably been restricted. The gas plant was declared obsolete and worn out and Chance Bros were engaged to service it. A cable for electricity had been laid by army to the garrison at the castle.
In January 1946 electric lighting quotes of £143.05 from St Austell Electric Lighting and Power and £340.10.0d from Chance Bros for a new lighting system at St Catherine’s. It was agreed to get Chance Bros to install new electrical flashing app at end of month and to discuss making a leading light at Whitehouse. It took a year to finally complete the conversion. An overhead cable through Covington woods and then a buried cable to the lighthouse around Penventinue Cove was the solution. 
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In 1951 Mr G.J.Allday a prominent Fowey resident Purchased the Old Golf Course to the north of St Catherine’s and gifted it to the Town for the residents of Fowey. In the conveyance date 16th September 1951 rights were given to give access to the lighthouse as below: 
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 In the 1960’s essential repairs were carried out with some more brickwork and a battery backup was provided that would automatically cut in if there was a power failure. This happened in February 1966 at the same time that vandalism occurred and the glass in the lighthouse was broken. In April that year the gas supply was removed as it wayleave had expired and it was no longer needed. With the battery back up a restricted light was maintained in 1972 when there were strikes causing electricity cuts.
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In the winter of 1978, a replacement light was fitted with a bulb changer that ensured that should a bulb blow the mechanism would rotate bringing a second bulb into service. This was carried out by AGA navigational aids. There was also a discussion as to whether the lighthouse as it was needed. The commissioners agreed that the existing structure would stay.
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The Aga Control unit fitted in 1978
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The previous battery backup system
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           A Lamp change over system              Serial plate made in Sweden by AGA 
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The lamp changer had been modified to take alighthouse bulb and a standard one.
Light house keepers tended the buildings, and they were regularly painted. In front the grounds continued to be used as a small allotment with privet hedges. 
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View of the lamp changer in situe when changed to solar LED light.
Vegetables were grown and today signs remain with wild cabbage evident. The allotment however became redundant in the early 80’s.
In 2000 approval to install solar power navigation lights was given by Trinity House and a solar panel system was placed to charge the batteries. This was followed in May 2002 with trial LED bulb at St Catherine’s. This used less power and as the overhead cable through Covington woods was going to be removed or had to be buried in an agreement with the National Trust it was essential to see if the lighthouse could become solely powered by regenerated systems. The range of the light was reduced by 5 miles and approved by Trinity House due to the LED’s and the mains power was cut off by the end of the year.
One hundred years after the signing of the lease in September 2002 the lease was due to expire, and the Harbour Commissioners purchased land from Rashleigh estate.
A wind generator was fitted above the old rest room and then was upgraded as it often didn’t charge the batteries enough. It was found that in northerly winds which had become more frequent there was a wind free zone around the lighthouse so in February 2007 a solar charging system was added to the charging system and this combination worked well. The wind vane was moved to above the charging room and raised with the solar panel replacing it on the rest room.
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The tug Tregeagle passing St. Catherines Light     seen from the water at the harbour mouth
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Penventinue Cove were rock falls threatened then broke the elelectrical cable
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The Battery house charged by windvane       Cruise ship Silver Wind passing 
               and solar panel                                   St.Catherine’s inward bound
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St. Catherine’s light with HMS Cornwall passing. Before the change over to LED light
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The main lense and two vertical side lenses covering the red sectors created by red glass panels mounted iinside the light house frame
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   the electic light in the prism                           The bulbs inside the prism

[image: ]
 

  [image: G:\fowey lighthouses\P1000058.JPG] [image: G:\RECOVERY\port photographs\NAV AIDS\st catherines\DSCN5565.JPG]

Graham Dean lighthouse keeper holding a     The cracked glass broken by vandals spare red sector glass pane 
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The solar panel and wind vane charging the batteries for the LED light
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Looking down the path to the lighthouse. From the access gate with battery house on right and the two wind vane chargers. One for the light the other for the NCI video camera 
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The light house showing the location of the present light on railings in front
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The LED light istalled in front of the old light structure
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         Hydrosphere’s LED light                     the battery system for the light charged.
                                                                                 Solar panel and wind turbine
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The LED light and wind and solar chargers in 2015 from seaward
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Viewed from the sea
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The area purchased in 2002 showing the coastal footpath and path down to the lighthouse. The white fence having gone mainly in the war
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Chart showing the coverage of St. Catherine’s light and Whitehouse light
In November 2021 it was decided that the prisms in the lantern and the mechanism should be removed as the lighthouse had been suffering from vandals
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.Photos courtesy of Marcus Lewis
The Harbour commissioners  were looking at ways of preserving the original structure as an important and historic landmark.
The unit was removed from the lighthouse and taken to Marcus Lewis’ Workshop
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              Volunteers Paul Richards and Bob Pasmore cleaning the frame.
It was a slow process cleaning the metal work and glass, removing all the white lead holding the glass in place. During the busy summer period of 2023 work stopped but resumed in the autumn and Marcus and Paul moved the various bits to the Fowey Museum where the job of putting it all back together began. Each piece of glass was cleaned and re-bedded in position with a new putty fix. The glass had pits etched in from the days of the gas burner.
The light was handed over into the care of the Museum on 19th March 2024 by Captain Paul Thomas Chief Exec. and Harbour Master of the Fowey Harbour Commissioners. A rare piece of maritime history preserved.
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                   The installation underway                          The final restoration with side lenses and light.
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Captain Paul Thomas, Harbour Master handing over to Helen Luther, the curator of the Fowey Museum,  and with The Mayor of Fowey, Cllr Mrs Lynn Simms
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Marcus Lewis on the left, Trustee of the Museum, who did most of the work renovating the light with Bob Pasmore and Mike Sutherland, helpers in the project. 


About the lenses that made the light from the bulb or earlier gas lamp visible over long distances
French inventor, Augustin Fresnel, had deduced that light was actually a kind of energy that travels in the form of waves (which was not commonly known at the time). Given that light travelled in waves, it was possible to make them converge on a single point or deflect from a certain point in different directions. He used this principle to make lenses and reflectors that were capable of capturing and then concentrating light to a specific point, making it quite powerful.
Fresnel also made lenses that had high aperture and low focal length. The lenses he made were also very smaller in comparison to conventional lenses present at that time (in some cases, as thin as a sheet of glass). Finally, and what makes them so special, is that a Fresnel lens could capture more light from a light source and thus increase the intensity of the lamp.
The first lighthouse system that Fresnel made consisted of highly polished prisms and an array of such lenses in a concentric arrangement. The light rays contained within this system from the source were combined together (using the lenses) and thus the combined intensity was much greater than the light source itself.
The light beam emitted by such an ingenious system is visible over 20 miles (32 kilometres) away.
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‘SPON SANE,LHMAT.
CHANCE LGHTHOUSE,
SweTHwick:

7
s - gsmingham.

29th” January 1904.

sir,
In reply to your letter of the 26th inst.

We hereby offer to supply and erect upon the site
selected at St.Catherine's Point, Powey, for the Fowey
Harbour Commissione & lighthouse complete in all respects
as shewn on Drawing A.3120, and gemerally as described in
the specification which We sent you on the 21st November last.

Speslilins o il LA Ll e

The work to be executed to the satisfaction of your
Consulting Engineer, Mr W.T.Douslass, M.Inst.C.E., and to
be completed Within 4 months of the date of order to commence
work.

The work to be executed somplete for the sum of £810 nett,

and ten

(eight hundred/pounds), one halr payable on the satisfactory
completion of the work in our yard, and balance on completion
of the erection after being passed by vour Engineer.

The work to be supplied would be as TOllows:-

4th Order Fixed and Condensing Dioptric Apparatus, with

3 gas burners and occulting apparatus in duplicate, stand-by

¥.7.Grahan Esq.,
Clerk to the Fowey Marbour commissioners,

Fowey, Cormwall.

Bhothhers.and G5

27/1/04.

011 lamp with hand oceulting mechanism, spare parts, stores &e.
Lantern of 6' 63" internal diameter, with steel helieal
framing, steel roof with copper ball vemtilator.
Conerete foundations and floor for lantern.
Galvanized iron store shed, measuring 10 feet by 8
feet in plan, complete with conerete floor amd foundations.
About 29 yafds Bayliss' contimuous unclimbable wrought
iron railing 5 feet high, complete with end quadrants, gate
and terminals, erected complete.
About 143 yards Bayliss' contimious wrought iron femcing
4 feet high, with straining posts, erected complete.
Gasholder 6 feet in diameter X 6 feet high, wWith shed

for same 14 feet square.

Trusting that the above will give you all the information
you require, and that we shall shortly receive imstruetions
to proceed with the work,
Ve are,
8ir,
Yours faithfully,

=7 c1{ANCE BROTHERS AND Co. LIMITFN,
7 DIRECTOR
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THE GUARDIAN, FRIDAY. NOVEMBER 11, 1904.
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THE DEVELOPMENT OF

FOWEY.

A NEW LIGHTHOUSE.
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THE GUALDIAN, FRIDAY. JANUARY 13, 1905.
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NUTIGE TO MARINERS.

ENGLAND. SOUTH COAST.
APPROACHES TO PLYMOUTH.

FOWEY HARBOUR.

ST, GATHERINE'S: PONT LIgTHousE,

(The bearings are Magnetic and those concerning the visibility of
lights are given from seaward.)

The Fowey Harbour Commissioners give notice that on or about
the 1st day of December, 1904, a Light will be exhibited from the
Lighthouse now in course of cénstruction near St. Catherine's Point,
Fowey.

The light will be dioptric, white, flashing, of the 4th order with
red sectors. ' The light will shew white between the bearings of N. 499
E. and N. 490 W. and red from N. 499 W. to S, 70° W. and from N.
490 B. to N. 770 B. On other bearings the light is obscured by the

and.

The light will exhibit one flash every 5 seconds as follows:

Light . 4 o 2 Seconds.
M G D 3 0
Total period .. (i

The: illuminant will'be gas. The light will be unattended at night.
The intensity of the light will be as follows:
‘White and red 1,700 candle power or 1} lighthouse units.

The light will be visible in clear weather from a distance of 15
nautical miles.

The lantern, which will be painted red, is erected on an octagonal
concrote base painted white on the headland to the west of Pennybney
Cove. near St. Catherine’s Point, on the western side of the entrancy
to Fowey Harbour.

The focal plane of the light will be clevated S1ft. above high
water of ordinary spring tides. Fho slovation to the vane of the lenEs
will b 1011,

i mmediately in rear of the lantern are 2 small buildings painted
white.
Further notice will be given when the light is exhibited.
Approximate position: Lat. 500.19’-37” N. Long. 4°-38'-45" W.
Dated this 3rd day of November, 1904,
WwW. J. GRAXEAIM,
Clerk to the Fowey Harbour Commissioners, Fowey, Cornwall.

E. J. ROSCORLA, Pripter and Stationer, FOWEY.
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AT WEST BRITON (MONDAY EVENINGS EDITIONY), MAY 3, 1880
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FOWEY.

Puorosso New Liswmnovse vor Fowey.—A
meeting was held at Fosey on Thursday, aud was well
sitndty die Rev. Dr. Tealey in the chais, whin o
nentarial to the Trinity Corporation. was adopted, asking
BTt o bo iacid opihe Gmbenc e, B
Holmes stated that a roogh estimate of the value of the
vewelx trading ab the port for ane year would show a value
in tonnage of over a willion and & half of woney, and if
they took that alone into consideration it was sulicient to
alioe that they ought to hiave & lighthouse, apart from th
Kaving of Jife wnd propesty. —A report of the meeting will
e wiviar o our Thisradsy’s fee.

!





image50.jpeg




image51.jpeg




image52.jpeg




image53.jpeg
Flame Pattern
«— Focal Plane

Bumer
(S5
Burner Piot Light
Pipe Line Pipe Line
Light Period
ControlKnob
A Regulator t
g eguiatorto
! Flasher Ii‘]’ Flasher

o ¥ PpeLineon

e )
Reguiator L

= —





image54.png
EVENING DESPATCH, WEDNESDAY, 18 DECEMBER, 1948
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{206.07.2004) The land i3 subject to the Iollowing rights reservec by a
Conveyance of the land in this title dated 16 September 1951 made
between (1) John Cosmo Stuart Rashleigh (Vendor) (2) The Mayor Aldermen
And Burgesses Of The Borough Of Fowey (Purchaser) and (3) Charles
Bernard Mitchell:-

= Excepting and reserving unto the Vendor his tenants and servants and




image57.png
all persons authorised by him or them a right of way on foot only a:
present enjoyed across the property hereby conveyed to St Catherine's
Lighthouse and a right to lay and maintain across the said property
pipes and cables with liberty to convey gas water and electricity
through the same to St Catherine's Lighthouse aforesaid and to enter
upon the property hereby conveyed for the purpose of inspecting
repairing maintaining and relaying such pipes or cables AND ALSO a
right of way for vehicles from Coombe Farm to St Catherine's Lighthouse
to bring materials for the repair of the said lighthouse whenever
necessary”

at
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Cliff path 2
collapses ‘

ART of the cliff path from

Fowey to Polridmouth Cove

fell away in a landslip on Satur-

day. Police said last night that

about 36ft. of the cliff-top from
the edge inland was affected.

Officers fenced off the cliff
path which backs on to Allday
Field, This stretch of cliff was
given to the people of Fowey
some years ago.

The power cable to the auto-
matic lighthouse at Catherine
Point was broken during Satur-
day night—in a fresh fall, it is
believed.

Fowey harbourmaster, Capt.
J. G. Wilson, said that the light-
house beam was maintained
despite ‘the cut. “It runs on a
reserve supply just in case—
having independent batteries,”
said Capt. Wilson, Electricity
Board engineers replaced the line
vesterday.

St. Austell-with-Fowey Borough
Council have repairs to the clift
path in hand.
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ROYAL CORNWALL GAZETTE, FRIDAY MORNING, SEPTEMBER 24 1880.
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